## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is the sequel to a prior case arising out of the sale of a house.<sup>2</sup> There, plaintiffs complained of their post purchase discovery of prior damage which the sellers, or one of them, negligently attempted to repair and further negligently failed to disclose.

The sellers were insured by Nationwide but Nationwide denied both defense and indemnity.<sup>3</sup> Left to defend themselves, the sellers ultimately confessed judgment for the cost of repairs (\$34,000), made a personal payment of \$4,000 and assigned any claim they may have had against Nationwide, et al., to plaintiffs in exchange for a covenant not to execute against their personal assets<sup>4</sup>. On July 18, 2003, plaintiffs filed C.A. No.: 03-C-1758 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County asserting three counts against Nationwide: Count I - Breach of Contract, Count II - First Party Unfair Claim Settlement Practices, and Count III - Third Party Unfair Claim Settlement Practices. Most issues raised in Docket No. 32723 arise from Nationwide's motion for summary judgment and plaintiffs' first, second, third, fourth and fifth cross motions for partial summary judgment with respect to Count I and various discovery orders related thereto.

On November 21, 2003, this Court decided *Taylor v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company*, 214 W.Va. 324, 589 S.E.2d 55 (2003), wherein it was determined that a cause of action also exists to hold a claims adjuster employed by an insurance company personally liable for

---

<sup>2</sup>C.A. No.: 02-C-3223 in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. A copy of that complaint was attached to the complaint in C.A. 03-C-1758 (Record at 1-11) as Exhibit A and an amended version was attached as Exhibit B.

<sup>3</sup>The policy language and putative basis for the denial will be discussed in IV.B. and C., *infra*.

<sup>4</sup>Assignment and Covenant each attached to the complaint in C.A. 03-C-1758 (Record at 1-11) as Exhibits I and J, respectively.

violations of the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act. *Id.* at Syl.Pt. 1. Bearing in mind that this Court had previously held that a claim for violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act was governed by a one-year statute of limitations, *Wilt v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company*, 203 W.Va. 165, 506 S.E.2d 608 (1998), and further recognizing that the one-year anniversary of the denial letters would be approaching in January, 2004, plaintiffs sought an agreement to extend any potential expiration of the statute of limitations pending the outcome of the existing case and the summary judgment motions already scheduled to be filed thereunder. Nationwide refused. Plaintiffs then found themselves on the horns of a dilemma. Wishing to protect all causes of action, but not wanting to delay motions with respect to the allegations already pled, plaintiffs opted to file a second suit in Cabell County joining, in addition to Nationwide, both Betsy Ross, its adjustor, and Terry Ridenour<sup>5</sup>, whose title was Claims Legal Counsel but who, as a practical matter, also served as an adjustor<sup>6</sup>. The Cabell action also added additional contract counts with respect to policies written in Indiana and Virginia where the sellers resided, and were believed to be insured, by the time of the closing on the Charleston house and at the time of discovery and claim, respectively.

Meanwhile, back in the Kanawha County suit, under the initial scheduling order, summary judgment motions on the three original counts in that action were due on March 31, 2004. Accordingly, in addition to plaintiffs' first, second, third, fourth and fifth motions regarding the

---

<sup>5</sup>Ridenour worked in the Barboursville, Cabell County, claims office of Nationwide.

<sup>6</sup>See fn. 6, *Barefeld v. DPIC Companies, Inc.*, 215 W.Va. 544, 600 S.E.2d 256 (2004) (holding open the question of whether an attorney hired to investigate or give advice upon the validity of a claim in the same fashion as a company claims representative might also be personally liable) and *State of West Virginia ex. rel. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company v. Canady*, 194 W.Va. 431, 460 S.E.2d 677 at 690 (1995) (refusing to adopt a per se rule making ordinary investigative employees, who hold licenses to practice law, attorneys for purposes of attorney/client privilege)

contractual issues set forth in Count I, plaintiffs also timely filed their sixth, seventh, eighth and ninth motions for partial summary judgment with respect to the extracontractual allegations set forth in Counts II and III in Kanawha County. Thereafter, Nationwide moved to consolidate the new Cabell action with the existing Kanawha action, in Kanawha County, but also moved to bifurcate the contractual from the extracontractual issues. Nationwide further moved to stay all discovery with respect to the extracontractual issues. Each of Nationwide's motions were granted.<sup>7</sup> The Circuit Court of Kanawha County then amended the Scheduling Order clarifying that it would proceed first to hear the various cross motions for summary judgment with respect to Count I, breach of contract (WV policy), at a hearing to be held June 16, 2004<sup>8</sup>. That hearing was then held, summary judgment granted to Nationwide and denied to plaintiffs<sup>9</sup>, and each of those rulings are the subject of Docket No. 32723.

Subsequently, Nationwide filed a motion for summary judgment "on all remaining counts", i.e., in both the Kanawha and Cabell actions, then consolidated. Plaintiffs responded noting, among other things, the issue of the stay which had prohibited any discovery on the newly added counts, but Plaintiffs also filed a contingent notice (to the extent the Court was going to consider the stay lifted and decide Nationwide's motion on all remaining counts) with respect to plaintiffs' previously served (prior to the filing of the Cabell suit, consolidation or stay) sixth, seventh, eighth and ninth

---

<sup>7</sup>Order entered May 13, 2004 (Record at 210-211). Although substantially complicating the procedural aspects of the case, the Court was within its discretion and no appeal is sought as to that Order.

<sup>8</sup>Order entered May 26, 2004. Again, the Circuit Court was within its discretion and no appeal is sought.

<sup>9</sup>Order entered July 22, 2004 (Record at 246-250).

motions for partial summary judgment with respect to original Counts II and III in the Kanawha action<sup>10</sup>. Without addressing the stay, and notwithstanding that no discovery had been served on the new Cabell defendants or allegations, or that the Cabell complaint had never even been seen by the Kanawha judge<sup>11</sup>, Nationwide's motion was granted<sup>12</sup>. Moreover, even though the newly added individual defendants had not joined in Nationwide's motion, the Order stated:

...the Court hereby **GRANTS** summary judgement in favor of the defendants on all remaining counts, **DENIES** Plaintiffs' outstanding motions for Partial Summary Judgment and **ORDERS** this matter to be and the same is hereby **DISMISSED** with prejudice. (One letter underscoring added)

Hence this Appeal.

---

<sup>10</sup>Plaintiffs' Response to Nationwide's Motion for Summary Judgment on All Remaining Counts (Record at 259-263) stated:

Nationwide has also vacillated on whether your Honor's ruling on Count I implicitly lifted the stay as to all others. Intuitively, it did, but when Plaintiffs suggested that fact in support of a final exchange of information critical to evaluation prior to mediation, Nationwide responded: "Further, while this matter is under bifurcation and stay, there is absolutely nothing to be gained by engaging in discovery disputes arising from claims handling". Conversely, now it asks the Court to summarily rule on those same counts without first lifting the stay (it requested and) which precludes doing so. To the extent that the Court does so, plaintiffs ask that the Court also take up their Sixth, Seventh, Eighth and Ninth Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. Presumably, Plaintiffs' Seventh Motion will necessarily have to be formally denied, without waiving Plaintiff's objection, based upon the Court's ruling with regard to the West Virginia contract.

<sup>11</sup>Although in preparing the Order defense counsel gratuitously included the heading of each count from the Cabell complaint (Record at 271-272), no copy was attached to Nationwide's motion and the Kanawha docket sheet still does not reflect any transfer of the Cabell file.

<sup>12</sup>Although Appellants would like to cite you to a transcript, the Circuit Judge had her secretary call and cancel the hearing, announce her ruling, and direct that defense counsel prepare an Order.

**III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND THE  
MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE HANDLED BELOW**

July 22, 2004 Order

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING NATIONWIDE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT:
1. THE MOTION WAS PROCEDURALLY FLAWED IN THAT IT RELIED EXCLUSIVELY ON MATTERS OUTSIDE THE PARAMETERS OF RULE 56 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.
  2. THE ORDER IGNORED THIS COURT'S CLEAR PRONOUNCEMENTS THAT THE DUTY TO DEFEND IS BROADER THAN THE DUTY TO PAY.
  3. THERE REMAINED UNANSWERED QUESTIONS OF FACT.
- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' FIRST MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (COUNT I - DUTY TO DEFEND) BECAUSE THE DUTY TO DEFEND WAS NOT SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATION OF AN "OCCURRENCE".
- C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' SECOND MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (COUNT I - DUTY TO DEFEND) BECAUSE NATIONWIDE DID NOT MEET ITS BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING THE FACTS NECESSARY TO DENY COVERAGE FOR LACK OF AN "OCCURRENCE".
- D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' THIRD MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (COUNT I - BREACH OF CONTRACT) UNDER THE INNOCENT SPOUSE DOCTRINE.
- E. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' FOURTH MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (COUNT I - BREACH OF CONTRACT) UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF WAIVER).
- F. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' FIFTH MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (COUNT I - BREACH OF CONTRACT) UNDER *HAYSEEDS*.

February 25, 2004 Order

- G. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS WHOLESALE RELIANCE ON THE DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER AND REFUSAL TO ALLOW A HEARING OR A RECORD TO BE MADE FOR THIS COURT'S REVIEW

December 20, 2004 Order

- H. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RELYING ON NATIONWIDE'S MISINTERPRETATION OF WEST VIRGINIA LAW AND IN GRANTING ITS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL REMAINING COUNTS.
- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER, MAKE SEPARATE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' SIXTH, SEVENTH, EIGHTH AND NINTH MOTIONS FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

**IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES,**  
**DISCUSSION OF LAW AND RELIEF SOUGHT**

**A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING NATIONWIDE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT:**

- 1. THE MOTION WAS PROCEDURALLY FLAWED IN THAT IT RELIED EXCLUSIVELY ON MATTERS OUTSIDE THE PARAMETERS OF RULE 56 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.**

Nationwide moved for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 56(c) states, in pertinent part:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the **pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits** if any, show that there is no genuine issue of any material fact that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law (emphasis added).

The motion did not attach any affidavits nor did it cite any deposition testimony, answers to interrogatories or admissions by plaintiffs. Instead, it relied primarily upon an extraneous Disclosure Statement<sup>13</sup> from the preceding case against Nationwide's insureds and which, among other

---

<sup>13</sup>Exhibit A attached to Nationwide's Motion for Summary Judgment filed on December 24, 2003 (Record at 53-86). The pertinent questions and answers were:

- k. Are there any structural problems with the improvements?  
 YES  NO  DO NOT KNOW
- l. Have substantial additions or alterations been made without a required building permit?  
 YES  NO  DO NOT KNOW
- m. Are there moisture and/or water problems in basement or crawl space?  
 YES  NO  DO NOT KNOW

things, constituted hearsay<sup>14</sup> and was outside the scope of Rule 56 of the W.Va.R.Civ.P.<sup>15</sup>

More importantly, even the insurance policy<sup>16</sup> was contested<sup>17</sup> and no affidavit was ever offered to substantiate Nationwide's position that the endorsement relied upon was applicable to the subject policy.

For each of the foregoing reasons Nationwide's motion should have been denied on procedural grounds alone.

---

<sup>14</sup>Plaintiffs admitted that the copy of the Disclosure Statement submitted by Nationwide was a true copy of the version prepared in connection with the sale. Plaintiffs denied requests for admissions regarding the signatures thereto as they were not present and did not have personal knowledge regarding the same. Although Nationwide obtained an order compelling the sellers' depositions, after speaking with them by telephone, defense counsel decided to cancel the same, and, accordingly, there is no testimony in the record from the sellers.

<sup>15</sup>Even if procedurally proper, the Disclosure Statement did not provide a factual basis for summary judgment. While Nationwide contended that the "NO" answers contained therein demonstrated some intent on the part of the sellers, in actuality the Disclosure stated that the answers were based on the sellers' then "CURRENT ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE" (emphasis in original) and, therefore, signature thereto was not necessarily false. As plaintiffs noted at deposition, the sellers may well have believed that their repairs had been successful as of that date. (Deposition transcript of Jacqueline B. Aluise at pages 44-45. This transcript was apparently forwarded to this Court by the Circuit Clerk under separate cover and appears at the back of the Court Record as repeat 2.)

<sup>16</sup>Exhibit D attached to Nationwide's Motion for Summary Judgment filed December 24, 2003 (Record at 53-86).

<sup>17</sup>Footnote 4 of Plaintiffs' Complaint in C.A. No. 03-C-1753 (Record at 1-11) stated:

Defendant's denials both cited "Endorsement 3199 but it produced Endorsement 3199-92. The 1-21-93 to 1-21-94 declarations reflects 3199-92 as endorsed thereto. The 1-21-94 to 1-21-95 declarations reflects 3199 as endorsed thereto (subject sale took place October 17, 1994). There is no record of approval of either endorsement still on file with the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner's Office although 3199-D was approved effective November 1, 2002, and it is said to replace 3199-C. Plaintiffs have requested documentation to clarify this issue pre-suit but the same has been refused.

**2. THE MOTION IGNORED THIS COURT'S CLEAR PRONOUNCEMENTS THAT THE DUTY TO DEFEND IS BROADER THAN THE DUTY TO PAY.**

Substantively, the error was even greater in that it ignored this Court's clear pronouncements that the duty to defend is broader than the duty to pay. As you have previously stated: [i]ncluded in the consideration of whether [an] insurer has a duty to defend is whether the allegations in the complaint ... are reasonably susceptible of an interpretation that the claim may be covered by the terms of the insurance polic[y]. Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Bruceton Bank v. United State Fid. & Guar. Ins. Co.*, 199 W.Va. 548, 486 S.E. 2d 19 (1997). However, there is no requirement that the facts alleged in the Complaint specifically and unequivocally make out a claim within the coverage. *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Pitrolo*, 176 W.Va. 190, 194, 342 S.E.2d 156, 160 (1986). If part of the claims against the insured fall within the coverage and part do not, the insurer must defend all the claims, although it might eventually be required to pay only some of the claims. *Horace Mann Insurance Co. v. Leeber*, 180 W.Va. 375, 378, 376 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1988).

Perhaps the lower Court's Order said as little as it did<sup>18</sup> because Nationwide's motion glossed over virtually all West Virginia law. Except with respect to passing reference to the standard for summary judgment, and the propositions that interpretation of an insurance contract is for the judge and, if unambiguous, the contract terms should be applied and not construed, Nationwide spent thirty out of thirty-two pages in its Motion and Memorandum relying exclusively on authorities from other

---

<sup>18</sup>The Order contained only two sentences which could be construed as conclusions of law (Record at 246-250). They were (in reverse order for clarity): "[t]here is no ambiguity in the term 'accident' as used within the Nationwide policy" and "[i]f the causes of action alleged in Plaintiffs' Complaint are entirely foreign to the risks covered by the insurance policy, then the insurance company is relieved of its duty under the policy". Appellants do not disagree with either, as stated, but appeal, instead, because those conclusions were not dispositive of the issues pending.

jurisdictions and overlooking our own. Specifically not cited was this Court's holding that the definition of an "occurrence", meaning an accident, is tantamount to an intentional exclusion, requiring proof that the policyholder (1) committed an intentional act and (2) expected or intended the specific resulting damage. *West Virginia Fire & Casualty Company v. Stanley*, 216 W.Va. 40, 602 S.E.2d 483 (2004)<sup>19</sup> (emphasis added), citing *Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Co. v. Cook*, 210 W.Va. 394, 557 S.E.2d 801 (2001). Even the Disclosure Statement provided no evidence of intent to cause damage and that alone would have necessitated a defense in the instant action at least until that determination was obtained.

The allegations in the underlying tort case clearly allege property damage as a result of negligent repair and negligent failure to disclose.<sup>20</sup> Those allegations, if proven, are covered.<sup>21</sup> The fact that Nationwide believed that the failure to disclose was intentional does not make it so. Even Nationwide does not pretend that there is any evidence that the ultimate failure of the repairs was intentional, and certainly not that damages to plaintiffs were intentional, nor did it ever make any distinction between the state of mind of Mr. Forssenius and Mrs. Forssenius. Without testimony, we don't know which of them made the repairs or their thought processes regarding the same. Thus, under the foregoing West Virginia authorities, there was clearly a duty to defend, at least until those questions were resolved.

---

<sup>19</sup>Curiously, when defense counsel prepared the Order at the Court's request, he did cite *Stanley*, albeit for another proposition (Record at 248).

<sup>20</sup>See Count I of the tort complaint, attached as Exhibit A to the Complaint in C.A. 03-C-1753 (Record at 1-11) and the amended version attached as Exhibit B.

<sup>21</sup>Policy language discussed *infra*.

**3. THERE REMAINED UNANSWERED QUESTIONS OF FACT.**

The notion that an insurer has to defend at least until resolution of the facts which determine indemnity should not be foreign to Nationwide. It has been told that before. See, this Court's Per Curiam opinion in *Patton v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company*, 191 W.Va. 563, 447 S.E.2d 255 (1994). In that case Nationwide asserted that a fist fight was intentional and therefore it had no duty to defend under a homeowners policy. On the contrary, this Court held that, because the homeowner claimed self defense, there remained a question of fact and Nationwide had to defend.

The following deposition colloquy with Adjustor Ross, and submitted to the Circuit Judge, likewise demonstrates a question of fact necessitating defense in this case:

Q Is an act either intentional or accidental or are there other possibilities besides those two?

A I guess it would be those two.

Q Did you ask Mr. Forssenius whether what he did was intentional or accidental?

A I don't recall coming out and saying those words, was it intentional or accidental.

Q Why wouldn't you do that? We've talked about your concern about coverage, the definition of occurrence, and within the definition of occurrence[] is this concept of an accident. And so you've told us that that's sort of what you were looking at. And that you felt that the failure to disclose was not accidental. Why wouldn't you ask your insured that question?

A Why wouldn't I ask him if it was accidental or intentional?

Q Yes.

A I don't know. He, you know, I would – I don't know.

Q How about Mrs. Forssenius, you talked to her a couple times, did you ask her?

A The -- I mean, the only thing she told me was they made repairs to the basement wall. They did not disclose it when they sold the home. I don't know what their reasoning was, why they did or didn't disclose it.

Q Did you ask her if it was accidental or intentional?

A No.

Q There were other allegations besides failure to disclose, weren't there?

A I -- I don't recall.

Q Surely you're not testifying that's the only allegation you looked at, are you?

MR. BUCK: Object to the question. That mis-characterizes her testimony. Her testimony is she doesn't recall.

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