**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

**At Charleston**

---

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

The policies defined "occurrence" as "an accident, including exposure to conditions, resulting in bodily injury or property damage during the policy period." *Id.* at 778. The Court referred to *Black's Law Dictionary* and noted that an accident is commonly defined as an unexpected happening without intention or design. *Id.* The Court also noted that "[a]s a matter of law, fraudulent promises, misrepresentations, and untrue statements do not fall within the plain meaning of the definition of an occurrence." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals found that the occurrence for which the Marxes sued the Freedmans was not the roof's collapse, but rather, the Freedmans' misrepresentations about the condition of the roof. *Id.* Thus, the Court held that

"[t]he Freedmans' failure to make disclosures about the roof was the basis of the Marxes' lawsuit. On the face of the Marxes' pleadings, the event for which the Freedmans sought coverage was an intentional act, and not an 'accident.' The Freedmans sought coverage for their statements to the Marxes, not for the roof's collapse."

*Id.* Accordingly, the factual allegations made by the Marxes against the Freedmans did not allege an "occurrence" under the insurance policies, and the insurers thus did not owe

the Freedman's a duty to defend. *Id.* at 778-79.

In an earlier case, the Court of Appeals of Texas, in *State Farm Lloyds v. Kessler*, 932 S.W.2d 732 (Tex. 1996), held that the damages suffered by the purchasers did not result from an occurrence or loss under the policy, which defined an occurrence as an accident. The Fannings alleged that the Kesslers told them the property had no drainage or foundation problems, when in reality it had severe draining and foundation problems. State Farm defended the Kesslers, subject to its right to assert grounds for non-coverage.

The State Farm homeowner's policy stated coverage would be provided "[i]f a claim is made or a suit is brought against an insured for damages because of bodily injury or property damage caused by an occurrence to which this coverage applies . . ." *Id.* at 734. "Occurrence" was defined in the policy to mean "an accident including exposure to conditions, which results in bodily injury or property damage during the policy period." *Id.* "Property damage" meant "injury to, destruction of, or loss of use of property." *Id.*

In regard to the "property damage" issue, the Court acknowledged that the Fannings' petition did describe drainage and foundation problems. However, the Court held that they were not property damages for which the Kesslers were liable because the Fannings did not assert that the Kesslers injured or destroyed the property, or caused the resulting loss of use. *Id.* at 737.

Instead, the Fannings allege that the Kesslers misrepresented the problems. The Kesslers' alleged misrepresentations did not *cause* the drainage and foundation problems; those problems existed before negotiations began.

*Id.* (emphasis in original). Although the Fannings alleged economic damages, those damages arose because of the Kesslers' alleged misrepresentations about the property and

because the Fannings did not get the property they bargained for. *Id.* Thus, the Court held that the economic damages were not property damages as defined by the policies. However, even if some of the economic damages could fall within the definition of property damage, the Court noted that “courts uniformly hold that those resulting from misrepresentation do not.” *Id.*, citing *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Brewer*, 914 F.Supp. 140, 142-43 (S.D.Miss. 1996) (holding that termite damage does not fall within the meaning of property damage because the alleged misrepresentations did not cause the damage; the termites did); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Morgan*, 806 F.Supp. 1460, 1464 (N.D.Cal. 1992) (holding that claims which allege negligent misrepresentation and failure to disclose are seeking economic damages, not property damages within insured’s policy); *Qualman v. Bruckmoser*, 163 Wis.2d 361, 471 N.W.2d 282, 285 (1991) (holding that pecuniary damages are not property damages under insured’s policy).

Although the Kesslers argued that the cause of the Fannings’ alleged damages was the improper drainage of the property, the Court observed that the improper drainage occurred *before* the Fannings’ causes of action accrued. *Id.* at 739 (emphasis in original). “Damages do not precede their cause. The Kesslers’ alleged misconduct triggered the Fannings’ claims, not the improper drainage.” *Id.*

“To fit the cause of action into the definition of ‘occurrence,’ we would have to violate the plain-meaning of contract interpretation and stretch ‘conditions’ to include voluntary, wrongful acts of the insured. This we are not willing to do.”

*Id.*

In *State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Gwin*, 658 So.2d 426 (Ala. 1995), the Supreme Court of Alabama held that reliance on the home sellers’ alleged representations concerning the home’s condition was not an “occurrence” within the meaning of the

insurance policy.

The policy provided that State Farm would provide coverage “[i]f a claim is made or suit is brought against an insured for damages because of bodily injury or property damage to which this coverage applies, caused by an occurrence . . .” *Id.* at 427.

“Occurrence” was defined in the policy as “an accident, including exposure to conditions, which results in bodily injury or property damage during the policy period. Repeated or continuous exposure to the same general conditions is considered to be one occurrence.”

*Id.* “Property damage” was defined as “physical damage to or destruction of tangible property, including loss of use of this property....” *Id.* The Court stated that for property damage to come under the coverage of the policy, there must have been an “occurrence” as defined by the policy. *Id.* at 428.

The Court found the reasoning in *United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Warwick Development Co.*, 446 So.2d 1021 (Ala. 1984) persuasive. In that case, the Court held that “[t]here was no evidence in this case that a misrepresentation by Warwick caused physical injury to or destruction of tangible property. 658 So.2d at 428 (emphasis in original).

“A majority of courts have held that in order to have liability under the terms of such a policy the ‘occurrence’ must arise during the policy period, for it is the insurance that is in force at the time of the property damage that is applicable rather than insurance that was in force when the work was performed. See, e.g., *Deodato v. Hartford Ins. Co.*, 143 N.J. Super. 396, 363 A.2d 361 (1976); *Singsaas v. Deiderich*, 307 Minn. 153, 238 N.W.2d 878 (1976); *Oceanonics, Inc. V. Petroleum Distributing Co.*, 280 So.2d 874 (La.Ct.App. 1973), *aff’d*, 292 So.2d 190 (La. 1974)....

[A]s a general rule the time of an “occurrence” of an accident within the meaning of an indemnity policy is not the time the wrongful act was committed but the time the

complaining party was actually damaged.”

*Id.*, citing *Muller Fuel Oil Co. v. Insurance Company of North America*, 95 N.J. Super. 564, 232 A.2d 168 (1967), quoted in *Deodato v. Hartford Ins. Co.*, 363 A.2d at 365; see also Annot., 57 A.L.R.2d 1385.

The Court in *Gwin* thus concluded that any alleged misrepresentations made by the Gwins did not *cause* the property damage which the Dobsons alleged, and that any emotional distress related to the alleged misrepresentations would have occurred *after* the termination of the policy. *Id.* (emphasis in original).

California is also among the majority of jurisdictions which hold that a homeowner’s policy covering only bodily injury or property damage does not provide coverage for alleged misrepresentations claimed by the purchasers. In *Allstate Insurance Company v. Morgan*, 806 F.Supp. 1460 (N.D.Cal. 1992), the Court held that the type of damages available for misrepresentation, failure to disclose, and negligence were not covered under the homeowner’s policy because it provided coverage only for bodily injury or property damages. *Id.* at 1463. “The damages alleged...are for economic or contractual losses and do not fall within the definition of ‘property damage’ under the policy.” *Id.*

The Court in *Morgan* also examined whether there was an “accident” within the meaning of the policy and concluded that there was not. In order for coverage to exist, there must have been an “occurrence” under the policy. *Id.* In this case, the damages sought would have had to arise from an “accident.” *Id.* Under California law, “an accident refers to ‘an unexpected, unforeseen, or undesigned happening or consequence from either a known or unknown cause.’” *Id.* at 1465 (citation omitted). Furthermore, “a

loss does not become ‘accidental’ simply because the insured did not intend to cause the injury.” *Id.* (citation omitted). Thus, the Court held that the defendants’ assertion that the alleged misrepresentations were unintentional and therefore accidental in nature to be without merit. *Id.* “[N]egligent misrepresentations do not constitute ‘accident’ for insurance coverage purposes.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

In *Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Andrews*, 915 F.2d 500 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990), the court held that allegations that the real estate was not as valuable or as desirable as represented due to various defects in the property did not constitute an “occurrence” under the insurance policy. *Id.* at 502. The purchaser alleged that the seller had misrepresented the condition of the property, which was later discovered to have unstable earth problems, as well as defective and inadequate electrical wiring and plumbing, and a leaky basement. As a result of these undisclosed conditions, the value and desirability of the property had been materially affected. The policy in question defined “occurrence” as an “accident . . . which results . . . in bodily injury or property damage.” *Id.* The Ninth Circuit noted that even though the condition of the property was an element of the underlying suit, it was not the *cause* of the damages. *Id.* (emphasis in original). The cause of damage was the seller’s alleged misrepresentations, which were held not to be an “occurrence” under the policy. *Id.*

The underlying claim in the case at bar was based on contractual claims. The event upon which the Aluises’ claim against the insureds is based is the insureds’ misrepresentation regarding the condition of the house. The policy in question limits the definition of “occurrence” to bodily and property damage; the appellants’ alleged injuries are contractual in nature and, therefore, foreign to the risks covered by the policy.

Any property damage that existed in the home existed before the making of the misrepresentations which are the theory of recovery. Damages cannot precede their cause. The misrepresentations triggered the Aluises' claims, not the actual property defects. That the underlying facts deal with defects in the property sold does not change the nature of the claim asserted by the Aluises against the Forsseniuses. Nor does it change the risks against which the policy insured. Any damages suffered by the Aluises are due to their purchase of the subject property. The only connection between the Aluises and the home is through the act of the sale. As a matter of public policy, "to find coverage existed in this case would be to find that based on an act of sale, a homeowner's insurer becomes the warrantor of the condition of the insured property. This is not the type of coverage which is contemplated by these homeowner's policies . . ." *Kountz, supra*, at 12.

The Nationwide policy provides that an "occurrence" must arise during the policy period. As noted by the Court in the *Gwin* case, *supra*, as a general rule, the time of an "occurrence" of an accident within the meaning of an indemnity policy is not the time the wrongful act was committed, but the time the complaining party was actually damaged. By their own admission, the Aluises did not notice any property defects until "several years" after the sale of the property. This is well after the expiration of the Nationwide policy, and is thus outside its coverage period.

### **3. The Nationwide Policy Specifically Excludes Defective Workmanship, Construction, and Materials**

The Amendatory Endorsement 3199, Section 1 (Exclusions), page 3, specifically

excludes:

- a. a fault, weakness, defect or inadequacy in the:
  - (1) specifications, planning, zoning;
  - (2) design, workmanship, construction, materials;
  - (3) surveying, grading, backfilling;
  - (4) development or maintenance;of any property on or off the residence premises whether intended or not....

(See **Exhibit E**, attached to Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment.)

As set forth above, the Forsenniuses admit that they performed the following construction and/or maintenance work on the subject property: specifically, Christer Forssenius (1) patched or sealed the outside of the block on the right side facing the front of the house; (2) placed wooden supports on the interior of the block in the finished portion of the basement; (3) patched or sealed the interior of the block in the finished portion of the basement; and (4) installed the drywall in the finished portion of the basement.

The Aluises discovered that the new drywall had been installed approximately 5.5 inches to the interior of the original location of the block, "negligently" concealing the block failure and any continued movement from view. (See **Exhibit F** attached to Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment, paragraph numbered 22.) The Forsenniuses admitted that Mr. Forssenius performed the drywall work in the basement. The work performed by Mr. Forssenius may be a direct cause of the defects complained of by the Aluises. As noted in the Nationwide policy, the policy specifically excludes a fault,

weakness, defect or inadequacy in the design, workmanship, construction, materials, development or maintenance, whether intended or not. Thus, the policy excludes any damages which may arguably have been caused by Mr. Forssenius' negligent construction and/or repairs of his own home prior to sale.

Based on the above case law and a plain reading of the policy in question, the injuries alleged by the Appellants are not the risks insured against by the insureds' homeowner's policy and could not have been covered under the policy. Further, the misrepresentation upon which the underlying claim is based does not constitute an "occurrence" under the language of the policy. The circuit court's Order Granting Summary Judgment stated that a duty to defend exists if the allegations in the complaint "are reasonably susceptible of an interpretation that the claim may be covered by the terms of the insurance policy." Order Granting Summary Judgment at 4. The circuit court was convinced that the underlying complaint could not reasonably be covered by the terms of the policy. Therefore, the circuit court correctly applied West Virginia law in its decision that Nationwide had no duty to defend.

### **C. APPLICATION OF THE INNOCENT SPOUSE DOCTRINE IS INAPPROPRIATE IN THE CASE AT BAR**

Appellants urge this court to adopt the innocent spouse doctrine, which prevents a spouse from being denied coverage based on the intentional act of another. Because coverage was properly denied based on reasons in addition to the insureds' intentional act, there is no reason for this court to rule on the innocent spouse doctrine at this time. Even so, the innocent spouse doctrine "is applied predominantly, if not exclusively, in

arson cases to permit an innocent co-insured to recover when another co-insured engages in misconduct after the policy is issued.” *Shepherd v. Foundation Life Ins. Co. of Ark.*, 1994 WL 706552, 3 (Ark.App. 1994).

**D. APPLICATION OF THE DOCTRINE OF WAIVER IS INAPPROPRIATE IN THE CASE AT BAR**

Appellants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment based on the Doctrine of Waiver was denied because, based on the circuit court’s other decisions, that motion was pointless. Under the Doctrine of Waiver, an insurer that improperly denies a defense is bound by any judgment against the insured. The circuit court found, and the record shows that it was correct in doing so, that Nationwide’s decision to deny coverage and a defense was correct. Therefore, there was no reason for the court to grant Appellants’ motion.

**E. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT UNDER HAYSEEDS**

To receive Hayseed’s damages, the policyholder must “substantially prevail” in an action against an insurer under a property damage claim. *Hayseeds, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 352 S.E.2d 73, 80 (W.Va. 1986). Appellants did not substantially prevail against Nationwide; therefore, the circuit court made the correct decision regarding Hayseeds.

**F. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RELIANCE ON THE DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER WAS APPROPRIATE.**

The argument regarding appointed discovery commissioners is moot. Nonetheless, Nationwide will address the issues raised by the Aluises.

Following depositions and exchange of documents, several discovery motions were filed. Upon review of the motions and written memorandum, the Circuit Court referred the matter to Charles Hurt, Esquire.

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